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The Amazons

1. The white warriors

The year was 1542. Under the command of Captain Francisco de Orellana, fifty-seven
Spaniards descend,

and this is the first time since the Conquest that this

adventure has been undertaken, the Great River, which

some call the Marafién and which, as is well known, flows

into the Atlantic. They had two brigantines - large

primitive canoes without bridges,

The largest of which must be about twenty metres long by two metres wide and one
metre deep. With sail and oars, they advance slowly, in spite of the favourable current,
for they have no Indian guides and often get lost in the labyrinth of the secondary

branches of the sea-river. For a few days now, they have been camped on the island of
the Tupinambas, which our maps call Santa Rita.



Once again, the indigenous people attack them. But, today,

they are not alone.

"Gaspar de Carvajal (') *, chaplain of the expedition, that they [the attackers] are
subject and tributary to the Amazons, and when they knew of our coming, they went to
them to ask for help and they came as many as ten or twelve, which we saw them
fighting in front of us.

* The numbers correspond to the bibliographical notes at
the end of the volume.

They fought so fiercely that the Indians did not dare to turn their backs, and those who
turned their backs were beaten to death in front of us, and this is the reason why the
Indians defended themselves so well.

These women are very white and tall and have very long
hair and walk around naked in leather, covering their
shame, with their bows and arrows in their hands, making

as much war as ten Indians...".

This is the first European testimony that we have concerning these mysterious warrior
women, of whom indigenous legends had long since taken hold, and we shall have to
wait more than four hundred years for a second. But Fr. de Carvajal is reliable. This
Dominican was the most pedestrian man imaginable. There is not the slightest fantasy
to be found in his account, not even any information about the flora and fauna of the
regions traversed. Orellana’s chaplain confined himself to writing a kind of logbook, in
which only distances, itineraries, supplies and combats are mentioned. On the other
hand, he was only the spokesman for his companions and especially for his captain. He
had -

We have only one testimony, but fifty-seven witnesses.

Without even mentioning the father who had lost an eye in the battle, the Spaniards
would not forget the assault of those white women "in leather" who had showered them
with arrows. The surprise had been so great that, after the battle, they had thoroughly
questioned the Indians they had captured about them. Let us leave the floor to Fr. de
Carvajal, heavy and precise



like a court clerk:

"The captain [Orellana] asked him [a cacique] what the women were; the Indian said
that they were women who resided inland seven days from the coast [of the river], and
because Sefior Couynco was subject to them, they had come to guard the coast. The
captain asked him if these women were married: the Indian said they were not. The

The captain asked him in what manner they lived: the Indian replied that, as he had
said, they were inland, and that he had been there many times and had seen their
treatment and dwelling, that as his vassal he went to carry the tribute when the lord sent
him. The captain asked if these women were many: the Indian said that there were, and
that he knew

by name seventy villages... and that he had been in some of them. The captain asked
him if these villages were made of straw: the Indian said no, that they were made of
stone and had gates, and that from one village to another there were roads fenced on
one side and on the other, and guards were posted at intervals because no one could
enter without paying fees. The captain asked him if these women gave birth: the Indian
said yes. The captain asked him how, not being married, and with no man residing
among them, they were impregnated: he said that these Indians take part with Indians at
times, and when they feel like it they gather together a large number of warriors and go
to make war with a great lord who resides and has his land together with these women,
and by force they bring them to his land.

They send them back to their own land, without doing them any other harm; and then,
when the time comes for them to give birth, if they bear a son, they kill him or send
him to his parents, and if a daughter, they raise her with great solemnity and impose on
her in the things of war. He said more, that between

All these women have one lady who subjugates and has all the others under her hand
and jurisdiction, which lady is called Cofiori. She said that there is a very great wealth
of gold and silver, and that all the principal ladies and of manner is no other their
service but gold and silver, and the other plebeian women are served with vessels of
wood, except what reaches the fire, which is clay. He said that in

" The text says "and", but this must be a misprint, as we shall see later.the head and
main town where the lady resides there are five very large houses which are shrines,
and houses dedicated" to the Sun, which they call Caranain, and

in these houses from the inside they are from the ground up to half way up, with thick
roofs covered with paintings of different colours, and that in these houses they have
many idols of gold and silver in the shape of women, and many songs of gold and pure
silver for the service of the Sun, and they walk dressed in fine woollen clothes, because
in this land there are many sheep of those of Peru*; Their costume is blankets girded
from the breasts down to the bottom, and on top of that they lie down, and others like
blankets fastened in front with cords; their hair is spread out on the ground, and they
wear on their heads crowns of gold as wide as two fingers, and those are their colours.
He said more, that in this
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He says that there are camels that carry them**, and he says that there are other
animals, which we did not understand, that are the size of a horse and that have the hair
of a jeme*** and a split pear, and that they are tied up and that there are few of these.
He says that there are in this tie-

The two salt-water lagoons, from which they make salt".

These women subjected numerous neighbouring tribes to their authority, "and there are
others with whom they have war, and especially with the one we have already
mentioned, and they bring them to have to do with them; these they say are very large
in body and white".

The Spaniards should not have been so surprised by the statements of their prisoners.
"Everything this Indian said and more had been said to us six years earlier.

« Llamas, alpacas and vicufias.

** |_lamas are camelids. In Peru, they are used as pack

animals

""" Unit of measurement equivalent to the distance between the tip of the thumb and the tip
of the index finger, with the two fingers well apart.

leagues from Quito, because there was great news of these women there, and many
Indians come down the river a thousand and four hundred leagues, and so the Indians
told us above that whoever was to go down to the land of these women had to go young
and come back old".

The captain was so marked by his encounter with the white warriors that, back in
Spain, when the cartographers began to call the Marafien "Rio de Orellana", he asked
and obtained that this name be changed to "Rio de las Amazonas", the name that has
remained for the river-sea.

2. Some indigenous testimonies



Francisco de Orellana and his men arrived at Gran Para (today Belén) on 24 August
1542 and we can assume that they rested for some time before continuing their journey
to the island of Tobago, from where they returned to Spain.

It is highly unlikely, therefore, that the news and, at any rate, the details of his
expedition were known in Paraguay when, in 1543, General de Irala and the adelantado
NUfiez Cabeza de VVaca embarked on the Paraguay River, which they were to cross in
search of Juan de Ayolas, who had disappeared on the road to Potosi. Nevertheless, in
the course of his expedition, Irala heard of "women who fight like men and who are
very brave and warriors and who are ladies of much gold and silver metal..., and that all
the service of their houses is of gold and silver and the bindings with which they make
their houses..." (2). (2).

During a second journey, a few years later, Irala, "travelling along the Peruvian
cordillera”, reached the present-day Bolivian province of Santa Cruz, in the Amazon
basin, where he heard of a great river running from south to north, unlike the Rio de la
Plata, and thought it was the Marafion. The Indians also mentioned to him "a province
of many people who had their populations on the banks of the Marafién".

A great lagoon, and that it possessed a great quantity of gold which they made use of;
for which reason the Spaniards gave this lagoon the name of El Dorado. Whose
natives, they say, bordered with some peoples of only women, who had only their left
breast, because the right breast was consumed with a certain artifice to be able to fight
with bow and arrows with which they were skilled and exercised, alluding to the
women of Scythia, of whom the ancients wrote.... (3)".

As can be seen, the legend was already embellishing the stories of the Indians. However
ambiguous the lines that Diaz de Guzman wrote in 1612, it is to the Indians that the
author attributes the detail of the ablation of the right breast, a detail, evidently taken
from Herodotus and Diodorus of Sicily, which no testimony, direct or indirect, has ever
confirmed as far as America is concerned. There is nothing of this story, for example, in
the account left to us of his descent from the Amazon in 1639 by Father Cristébal de
Acufia.

A few months earlier, the captain-major Pedro de Teixeira had arrived in Quito, who,
with sixty-seven Portuguese soldiers and twelve hundred Indians, including oarsmen
and warriors, not to mention service personnel, had just sailed up the Amazon from its
mouth, aboard forty-seven brigantines. Portugal constituted, at that time

one of the kingdoms that made up Spain at the time. However, the Count of Chichon,
Viceroy of Peru, was reluctant to keep such a large and hardy troop under the
command of a Portuguese. Nor was he enthusiastic about the idea of leaving the



Teixeira to return across the river without any oversight. That is why he attached two
Jesuits to him, one of whom, Fr. de Acufia, was the brother of his lieutenant general,
corregidor of Quito. That it was not only about,

The Portuguese were able to prove it when, before reaching Gran-Parg, they tried to go
out of their way to seize Indians they intended to sell in the fazendas - the ranches - of
the Marafién province: the "chaplain” spoke on behalf of the King and the flotilla had
to go straight on.

Father de Acufia has left us an account of his voyage (4) full of precise information
about the inhabitants, fauna and flora of the Amazon. Aware of his responsibility, he
checked every line, worried that he might be branded as exaggerated or imaginative: "I
ask those who read this account to give me credit.... | say this because of what others
may bring to light, perhaps not as close to the truth as it should be. This one will be, and
S0 much

that in no case will | put in it things that | cannot with my bare face testify with more
than fifty Spaniards, Castilians and Portuguese, who made the same journey, affirming
what is certain as certain, and what is doubtful as such, so that in something so serious
and of such importance no one will dare to believe more than what is affirmed in this
report".

Now, and this is what interests us here, Fr. de Acufia devotes several pages of his
account to the Amazons and bases it on the testimony of the Tupinambas Indians:
"With their words also of these Tupinambas, we confirm the long news that we brought
along this river of the famous Amazons.... The foundations that there are for assuring
the Amazonas province on this river are so many and so many

It would be a breach of human faith not to give them credit.

"And | do not deal with the serious information that, by order of the Royal Court of
Quito, was made with the natives who inhabited it for many years, of all that it
contained on its banks, in which one of the main things that is assured was that it was
populated by a province of warrior women, who, sustaining themselves alone without
men, with whom at certain times they had no more cohabitation, lived in their villages,
cultivating their lands, and achieving with the work of their labour.

from their hands all that is necessary for their livelihood.

"Nor do | make mention of those that in the new kingdom of Granada, in the city of
Pasto, were made with some Indians, and in particular with an Indian, who said that
she herself had been in their lands where these women are populated, agreeing in
everything with what was known by the first sayings.
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"I am only going by what | have heard with my ears, and carefully ascertained since we
set foot in this river. In that there is generally nothing more common, and that no one is
unaware of it, than to say that women dwell in it, giving such particular signs, that all
agreeing in one and the same, it is not credible that a lie could have been made out in so
many

languages and in so many nations, with so many true colours.

"But where we had more light on the place where these women live, on their customs,
on the Indians who communicate with them, on the roads by which one enters their
lands, and on the natives who populate them (which is what I will give here) was in the
last village where the province of the Tupinambas ends.

"Thirty-six leagues from this village, running downstream, on the north side is the
Amazon, which is known among the natives as the Rio Canuris [the present

Nhamunda]. This river takes its name from the first Indians that it supports at its

mouth, who are followed by the Apantos, who speak the general language of the whole
of Brazil.

After these are the Taguaus, and the last ones, which are the ones that communicate with
the Amazons themselves, are the Guacaras.

"These manly women have their seat among great mountains and eminent hills, of
which the one that stands out most among the others, and which, like the proudest of
the winds... is called Yacamiaba. They are women of great value, and have always kept
themselves without ordinary trade with men, and even when these, by agreement with
them, come every year to their land, they receive them with weapons in their hands,
which are bows and arrows, which they play with for a few days.

They all go to the canoes or boats of the guests, and each one taking the hammock that
is nearest at hand, which are the beds in which they sleep, takes it home and, hanging it
in a place where the owner knows it, receives him as a guest for a few days, after which
they return to the house.

their lands, continuing this journey every year for the same length of time. .

"The female daughters who are born of this council, keep and raise among themselves,
who are the ones who are to carry forward the value and custom of their nation, but the
male children there is no such certainty of what they do with them.
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"An Indian who, when he was a child, had gone with his father to this entrance,
affirmed that the male children were handed over to their parents when they returned to
their lands the following year. For the rest, and this is what seems to be the most true
because it is the most common saying, they say that when they recognise them as such,
they take their lives.

This account, as can be seen, does not differ at all, in the main, from the one left to us
by Father de Carvajal. In almost a century, it seems that only the procedure used by the
Amazons to procure their husbands for a few days has changed: war in the 16th
century, a friendly exchange of favours in the 17th. We will find the explanation for
this change later.

There is also a third version of the method in question, mentioned by the chroniclers
Juan de San Marti and Alonso de Lebrija (5), who, in Bogota, heard, between 1536 and
1539, of single women who bought slaves for the sole purpose of obtaining from them
a regular mating. The existence of the Amazons was thus known far beyond their
territory. We have other, older evidence of this. In 1524, Hernan Cortés himself (6)
wrote to Charles V that there was, off the coast of Caguatan, "a whole island populated
by women without any male, and that at certain times men come from the mainland,
with whom they have access, and those who become pregnant, if they give birth to
women, they keep them, and if men, they throw them out of their compama". This was
confirmed a few years later by Nufio de Guzman (7), who, not without adding that
these women claimed to have arrived by sea, said that they used to bury the boys alive,
but, for some time, they handed them over to their parents when they reached the age of
ten. It is useless to add that no Amazons have ever been found in Mexico. The Indians
evidently alluded to those who had settled on the Orinoco: to them, as to the Europeans
of the Middle Ages, the inaccessible lands beyond the sea were always islands.

3. The land of the Amazons

Sixty years after the expedition whose vicissitudes were recounted by Fr. de Acufia,
Alexander de Humboldt and Bonpland undertook the long six-year voyage of study
during which they travelled in all directions along the Orinoco basin and the upper
Amazon. In the gigantic work he wrote on the subject (8), Humboldt briefly mentions
the Amazons, without expressing the slightest doubt as to their existence. With his
usual geographer's precision, he limits himself to determining the areas in which their
presence was noted: to the south of the Marafion, between the licuyacé and the
Madeira, in the region of the Cayamé or Cayambé river, and also, according to
Raleigh, in the province of the Tapa jos and in the river of the same name; to the north
of the Amazonas, in three

places: west of the great Oyapoc streams, west of the sources of the Irip6 or Arijo river
which flows into the sea-river a little south of the Araguary river, and close to the
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sources of the Cachivero, which flows into the Orinoco between Cabruta and Alta
Gracia. Humboldt, who takes up here La Condamine, adds that the Amazons migrated
from the Cayamé

northwards and crossed the Great River near the mouth of the Cuchivara River, today's
Purus. This is a point of capital importance, as we shall see.

La Condamine was not usually deluded. In his travelogue (9), he treats the rumours that
had been circulating for two centuries about El Dorado and Lake Parima as a fable. On
the other hand, he in no way doubts the existence of the Amazons. "All the Indians tell
us that they had heard it told by their fathers, not without adding a multitude of details,
too long to repeat, which tend to confirm that there was, on this continent, a republic of
women who lived alone, without admitting any man among them, and who withdrew
into the interior of the northern lands, by the Rio Negro or by any one of those which,
in the same place, are thrown into the Marafion".

La Condamine specifies his sources regarding this displacement: "An Indian from San
Joaquin de Omaguas told us that we could perhaps, in Coari, find an old man whose
father had seen the Amazons. Later, when we arrived there, we were informed that the
Indian we had been told about had died. But we spoke to his son, who appeared to be
about seventy years old and commanded the other Indians in the region. He assured us
that his grandfather had seen these women pass by at the mouth of the Cuchivara river,
who came from the Cayamé that he himself casts into the Amazon, on the south bank,
between Tefe and Coari. He added that his grandfather had spoken to four of them, one
of whom had a child at her breast. He gave us the name of each of them and told us
that, leaving Cuchivara, they crossed the great river - he meant the Marafien - and
headed towards the Rio Negro.... Below De Coari, likewise, the Indians gave us
everywhere the same account, with some differences of detail, but in agreement as to
the essentials.

"In particular, the Topayos say that they had from their fathers certain green stones
which they had obtained from the cougnanteinsecouima, that is to say, in their
language, from women without husbands, among whom they are found in abundance".
Cougnanteinsecouima is the French spelling, somewhat comical, of a Tupi-Guarani
word which, in Brazil, is today spelt cunhantensequima. But the meaning is correct.

La Condamine then refers to the region into which the Amazons retreated: "An Indian
who lived in Mortigara, a misipn near Para, offered to show me a river by which one
could reach, according to what he said, very close to the country now inhabited by the
Amazons. This river is called Irijo, and | later passed in front of its outlet.
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bocadura, between Macapa and Cabo Norte. According to the information of this same
Indian, beyond the place where this river is no longer navigable because of its falls, it
was necessary, in order to enter the country of the Amazons, to walk for several days
through the jungle and cross a mountainous region.

"An old soldier of the garrison of Cayenne, who now lives near the falls of the Oyapoc,
assures us that a detachment of which he was a member and which had been sent, in
1726, to reconnoitre the interior lands of the country, had entered the territory of the
Amicuanes, a nation of Orejones who live beyond the sources of the Oyapoc and near
those of another river which flows into the Amazon.

There he had seen many of these green stones. Having asked the Indians where they
got them from, they had replied that they came from the women who have no
husbands, whose lands were in the west, seven or eight days' journey further on. This
people of the Amicuanes live far from the sea, in a high country where the rivers, by
reason of their reduced flow, are not yet navigable. In such conditions

The French had not received this tradition from the Indians of the Amazon, with whom
they had no relationship whatsoever. They only knew the peoples adjacent to their
lands, among whom the French had recruited their guides.

of the Cayenne detachment”.

To these testimonies, our traveller adds two reflections of the highest importance. The
first concerns the geographical concordance of the data relating to the migration of the
white warrior women: "While the various accounts point to the retreat of the Amazons
by various routes, some to the East, others to the North and others to the West, all
agree in indicating as a point

The common arrival point is the centre of the mountains of Guyana, and in a place where
neither the Portuguese of Para nor the French of Cayenne have yet penetrated.

La Condamine's second reflection is of a general nature. The details of the customs of
the Amazons were altered and even added to by the Europeans who attributed to them
the habits of the Amazons of Asia. For example, no testimony mentions the ablation of
a breast. It is true, on the other hand, that ~all the Indians of southern America, or the
greater part of them, are liars, believers, and even the most unbelieving.

dulous, passionate about the marvellous. But none of these peoples have ever heard of
the Amazons of Diodorus of Sicily and Justin. However, the Amazons had already
existed among the Indians of Central America before the arrival of the Spaniards, and
they were also mentioned among peoples who had never seen Europeans. What the
information supplied to Orellana and to
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his companions by the cacique, as well as the traditions referred to by P. de Acufia and the
P. Barazi: Can it be believed that these savages of distant regions have agreed to

imagine, without foundation, the same fact, and that such a fable has been so uniformly
adopted, in Mayfias, in Para, in Cayenne and in Venezuela, by so many peoples who do
not understand each other nor have the least communication between them?"

Among the customs of the Amazons, there are some that were certainly not added by
the Europeans: those reported by Henri A. Coudreau (10), for example, at the end of
the last century, about the "maloca de las mujeres"”, a village located on the side of the
sources of the Anaud or the Jauapery, on the Rio Branco, on the border of British
Guiana and about 200 km as the crow flies from the sources of the Anaua or the
Jauapery, on the border of British Guyana.

Nhamunda: "They have among them mistresses of whom they are very jealous, but
they are not jealous of the men, whose strength, overexcited by the conguerecu, they
share honestly. They have storehouses, kitchens, private cottages, common amusement
rooms, groves. They wear ornaments of festivities, adornments in the fashion of the
ancient Tupis, but

usually walk around in a state of complete nudity, without a thong. Likewise, men do
not have calembé. When they have reached a state of incurable impotence, which
generally happens around the age of forty, although they use them for certain secret
pleasures, which are not without sweetness or compensation for these unfortunates,
even though they provoke them without sharing them, women employ these pensioners
of love in gardening and fishing. Hunting and war are reserved for them.

4. The Amazons reunited

If our chapter were to end here we could only conclude, from the accounts whose
essential parts we have transcribed, that there existed in the Amazon, from the time of
the Conquest until the end of the next century, one or more groups of warrior women
who lived among themselves and only occasionally accepted merely procreative
contact,

The last information was that this or these groups were established between the Upper
Orinoco and the sources of the Jary, at the foot of the Roraima mountain range and the
Tumuc Humac mountains. We could not affirm that they were white women, since we
only have the testimony of Fr. de Carvajal, and he does not know that they were white
women.

In the course of a battle, he could perfectly well, in all good faith, have described as
white Indians whose skin was lighter than that of the men they were captaining. In such
conditions, it would be hardly abusive to accept the thesis of Creveau (n), the explorer
of Guiana, who only wanted to see, at the origin of the "legend of the Amazons",
groups, as he had found some in the course of his
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expeditions, of Indian women taking refuge in the jungle to escape God knows what ill-
treatment. But such an explanation is no longer acceptable today, for the simple reason
that, in 1954, someone found the Amazons again and lived with them for a fortnight.

Eduardo Barros Prado, one of the men of our time who knows the Amazon best, was
then on one of his regular expeditions to the region where he had spent his childhood
and where his family owns huge tracts of forest. He had just found there, after a long
and arduous search, an Indian, Jauaperi, who had been brought up with him in
England,

He had, one fine day, returned to Brazil to take his place among his own people. That
was when, in Obidos, a little below the mouth of the Trombeta, an old Mundurucu
Indian told him about a strange adventure he had experienced during his childhood. He
was accompanying a group of families going to the Alto Jary to hunt the enormous "sea
calf" of the Amazon - in reality, an aquatic mammal of the order of the sirenids - which
the French in Guyana call bufféo and the Brazilians call peixe-boi, ox fish. On the
Parana * at Faro - the lower Nhamunda, which is very wide here - they had come across
six igarité (pirogues) whose paddlers were naked women with blue tattoos, their lower
bodies covered with urucum, the red sap of a plant that protects against mosquito bites.
No men accompanied them. In the centre of the last canoe, the figure of an
extraordinarily white woman stood out, seated in the middle of the boat.

of about twenty children approaching puberty. According to Kunité - the Mundurucu in
question - these were the women without husbands. Periodically, they would go down
the Nhamundé and then up the Trombeta in search of big game. The Indian added that
his grandmother, Nutfa, had a stone called muyrakitan (jade) that came from the
cunhantensequima.

Barros Prado, whose account we have limited ourselves to paraphrasing, adds (12):
"Legend has it that to the north of Faro, next to some hills parallel to the course of the
Nhamunda, there was a lake known as Jacicura - the mirror of the moon - and that
women without hushands used to purify themselves there at certain times of the year,
when they had no hushand.

lunar phases. When they dived in, they invoked in fervent prayers the mother of the
muyr akitanas, who dwelled at the bottom of the lagoon. The ceremony, which had to
be performed at full moon, meant that they received from the mother the stones
mentioned, as a sign of having granted her request.... The Amazons were the only
owners of such amulets, with which they presented the men of the Guacari tribes with a
gift of the stones.

The first, then the Macuxis, and finally the Parintintins, when they made their annual
visit at the time of the 'waters' for the traditional 'coupling ceremony'.

* (Parand: in the Amazon, a locally widened branch of a river).
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The lagoon).

Accompanied by Jauaperi and an emerillon, Krakaran, who knew the region in depth,
from the Upper Orinoco to the Oyapoc, Barros Prado undertook the ascent of the
Nhamunda, by canoe, with the support of a small Curtiss seaplane. In addition to the
Indians, he was accompanied by three whites, including Silvino Santos, former
cameraman of the Hamilton Rice expedition which had tried in vain, in 1925, to go up
the Uraricoera and of which he himself had been one of the

guides.

Contact was established after twenty-one days, when the seaplane located a village that
three fan-shaped trails linked to a blue lake at the foot of two hills, where it was able to
dive. In the village, there were only women whose welcome was friendly. They were
Indian women, some of whom were as hairy as men, others were as hairless as men.
Some looked tattooed or were covered from the waist to the calves with urucum paint,
while others presented their bodies free of any ornamentation,

From one side of the lake, six paths led to a group of carbets (huts, in French Guiana),
six of them grouped together and three symmetrically separated. "It all looked like it
had been laid out by an engineer," says Barros Prado, who one day was led to the
symmetrical carbets. Seventy children under eight years old

years lived in them, cared for by about twenty elderly women, under the orders of a
white cajabi. Questioned by Jauaperi - these Amazons spoke Tupiguarani - she
explained that her tribe, all of whom were white like her, lived in the Levant, on a high
mountain on the banks of a rocky river. They had

brought among the cunhantensequima to replace an old woman, also white, who kept
repeating to him that her people lived on the Ponente. The photos that Silvino Santos
took of this cajabi (cf. photo 1) show beyond doubt that it is not an albino.

At the end of their stay, Barros Prado and his companions were able to witness the
purification ceremonies of the nubiles and then the arrival of the Parintintins who had
just rowed 1300 km to join the Amazons. They quietly stayed away for the fortnight of
the priapée and returned just in time to join the Amazons.
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The "legend” told the truth, in its less tragic form: the Parintintins took with them the
boys * who were about to reach the age of eight. The "legend" told the truth, in its least
tragic form: the Parintintins took with them the boys * who were about to reach the age
of eight. "It really all seemed like a dream," writes Barros Prado, "and had it not been
for the pictures taken by Silvino, | would not have dared to describe the outcome of this
expedition, which is so far-fetched. But the photos are there and Barros Prado, whom
we know very well, is a reliable man.

What can we conclude from all this? In the first place, that the above accounts are, in
the main, scrupulously accurate. But also that Fr. de Carvajal was not deceived: the
primitive Amazons were really of white race. Every year, they united with the Guacaris
who lived on the other side of the river.

of the Great River, at the mouths of the Nhamunda. One day, however, this white tribe,
well known as such, disappeared for reasons we do not know. The Cunhantensequima
then called the Macuxis, whose two tribes are very distant from each other, in the
Roraima and in the Upper Oyapoc: evidently those of the latter region. But, says Barros
Prado, either because of the difficulties of a journey in the course of which they had to
cross the rivers Cachorro, Mapuera and Cuming, or because of the danger posed by the
attacks of the emerillones, or also because of the lack of food, these light-skinned
Indians came less and less frequently and then gave up the

their visits. The Amazons had to make do with the parintintins, the bars, the
mundurucus, with any Indians who would lend themselves to a game on which the
survival of a sui generis way of life depended.

The race changed rapidly and, within a few generations, women without husbands
became Indians. In vain they tried to maintain the cult of the past in the children by
entrusting them to a white woman. Genes are not replaced by symbols.

Extremely courageous, to the point of attacking the jaguar with a spear, they had
nothing of the warriors of bygone days. Perhaps this change has caused their loss. When
passing through Obidos in 1961, Barros Prado learned that one of the bands of
boschnegeren, black maroons who periodically cross the Surinamese border and
plunder the jaguar with their spears, had been Killed.

the bordering Brazilian region, had settled around Lake Jacicura.

Did they attack the Cunhantensequimae? It is not known, as several expeditions that
tried to reach their village had to turn back, but it is to be feared. The white Amazons of
the 11th century would have repelled their eventual aggressors without the slightest
difficulty.

Nobody

knows what has become of their degenerate descendants.

5. revealing tattoos
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In the course of the nubile initiation ceremonies which
Barros Prado was able to attend and which lasted for

eight days, he was able to

For a few days, ten old women made the young women take
ritual baths, who were going to take part for the first time in
the festivities of the coupling. They were dressed in long,
cream-coloured, almost white tunics of tucum bark, a
symbol, perhaps, of their lost race. Two priestesses, also
wearing tunics, then set about painting the belly, arms and
thighs of the "novices", using the red of the urucum, the
bluish black of the genipapo - a berry of the

region-*- and the white of the albayalde, superbly traced geometric designs.

Fic. 1 — Pinturas corporeas de las

motivos arahuaks. Segun fotos
Prado '

« These false tattoos are sometimes reminiscent of the ornamentation of Arawak pottery
(cf. fig. 1), but also and above all, and this is of particular interest to us, of the motifs of
Tiahuanacu textiles and sculptures. The cross in figure 2, on the left, is exactly the same

as the one we see on the walls of the Viking capital, with the difference

that the central circle here is represented by the navel of the little Indian, while the one
on the right, in the same figure, is a Celtic cross, similar to those we found in Paraguay,
next to runic inscriptions. The drawings in figure 3 are reminiscent of the sculpted
heads of the Puerta del Sol, and in figure 4 we see various representations of the
"stepped sign", one of the most characteristic symbols of the Tiahuanacota civilisation.
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Unfortunately, we have had to content ourselves with reproducing these false tattoos
from the photos taken during the ceremonies, and they are incomplete. Eduardo Barros
Prado, who had copied them but could not find them in his archives, has often
expressed his astonishment that

to see the priestesses paint, at full speed, such regular drawings, more than 2000 km as the
crow flies from Lake Titicaca on the shores of which their models were standing. No chain
transmission is possible through the virgin forest, populated by wild tribes.

We thus have tangible proof of the origin of the Amazons and their descendants.

54

F16. 2 - Pinturas corpdreas de las amazonas de Jacicurd:
cruces de Tiahuanacu y cruz céltica, Segin fotos de Silvino
Santos-Barros Prado '™
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Fi1c. 3~ Pinturas corpdreas de las amazonas de Jacicurd:
motivos tichuanacotas. Segiun fotos de Silvino Santos-
Barros Prado /9
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Fic, 4 - Pinturas corpéreas de las amazonas de Jacicurd: el
“signo escalonado”, originario de Tiahuanacu. Segin fotos
de Silvino Santos-Barros Prado '

6. £1 origin of the amazons
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From the testimonies and facts we have just reviewed, we can draw extremely precise
conclusions. In the first place, they allow us to affirm that there were, without a doubt,
at the time of the Conquest, in the north of the Great River, women warriors who lived
among themselves and only once a year accepted visits from men. Their

presence was reported in three places: south of the Araguary River, in the interior of
the lands bordering the Amazon delta; west of the great Oyapoc streams, south of
present-day French Guiana; near the sources of the Cachivero, a tributary of the Upper
Orinoco, i.e. on the western slope of the Sierra de Parima which separates

Venezuela from the Brazilian territory of Roraima, or Rio Branco, according to its
former name. We do not know whether these were distinct groups, or a single one
which, in the course of their migration or on the occasion of subsequent expeditions
from their base, would have manifested itself in the course of their migration.

on several points. What is certain is that these women had an important centre in
Nhamunda, from which they attacked Orellana in 1542 and where Barros Prado, in
1954, found their descendants.

In the 16th century, these Amazons were white and maintained the purity of their race
by choosing their sporadic husbands from among the Guacaris, a tribe of white men
who lived, and certainly not by chance, south of the Great River, opposite the mouth of
the Nhamunda. For reasons unknown to us, these breeders disappeared one day.

The warriors had to replace them with the whitish Macuxis of the Upper Oyapoc, and
then, when the latter's travels were too long, with real Indians. They thus lost their
racial characteristics, although they retained their memory.

Where did these white women come from? We have almost nothing on this subject
except the testimony of the old Indian of Coari, as related by La Condamine, but
Barros Prado's findings indirectly confirm it. In the first half of the 15th century, the
grandfather of the Indian in question saw a group of Amazons cross the river Marafien
at the level of the river Cuchivara - today's Purus - and go northwards. The date of this
crossing is well established, since the Indian was about seventy years old at the time of
his conversation with La Condamine, in the middle of the 15th century, and that, by the
interplay of generations, the episode experienced by his grandfather must date back
some fifty years earlier.

of the birth of the old man. Whether this is said in parentheses, it could only be a
rearguard, or a reconnaissance party sent to the region once inhabited by the Amazons,
since the Amazons were already firmly established in the Nhamunda by the middle of
the 16th century.
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In any case, the women in question came from the Cayamé river, situated to the west
between the Purds and the JurGa. These rivers, which border an enormous expanse of
jungle, still almost unexplored today, both rise in Peru, barely fifty kilometres from
each other, at a point in the Sierra de Urubamba 300 km upstream.

bird tattoos to the north of Cuzco. Now then: the "tattoos" of the Cunhantense quima of
Jacicurd are indisputably Tiahuanacotas. The facts fit together perfectly: the Amazons
had come from Peru down the Purus and had settled in the impenetrable jungles.

Why the Pur0s rather than the Jurud? Because we still find on its banks, among the
Paumaris, pre-Inca traditions, for example that of the Deluge (**) (Cf. map, fig. 5.).
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This Peruvian origin also explains the rumours about the gold and silver crockery of the
women without husbands and their stone houses. Even if they had to give up their
former luxurious life, which is not proven, they at least kept the memory of it and
talked about it. And, most probably, it is not by chance that they meet, in their
neighbourhood, Orejones Indians: the Omaguas, south of the Great River,' and the
Amicuanes, to the north. It is known that the fashion of stretching their ears by
inserting heavy wooden or stone rings (ringrim, from the Norrish ring, anillo, aro) into
their lobes was typically Peruvian. Its adoption by the Omaguas, who had been strongly
influenced by the Incas, is understandable. But it does not look very good

how or from whom a Guianese tribe could have borrowed it. The Peruvian origin of the

Amazons solves the problem, whether the Amicuanes followed them in their migration
or were, on the spot, subdued by them.
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It remains to be seen when the white warriors left the Andean Altiplano. Certainly not
at the time of the Conquest of Peru, which had taken place only six years before
Orellana's expedition. Moreover, the somewhat mixed-race white aristocracy of the Inca
empire was very small in number and its women had never displayed the slightest
military virtues. Finally, the "tattoos" of the women of Jacicura are not Inca, but
Tihuanacotas,

We have already seen it, and the difference is appreciable. There is no doubt, then: the
departure of the Amazons took place around 1290.

It was on that date, in fact, that the Diaguita of the chief Kari, who came from
Coquimbo in Chile, attacked the Danish Vikings who had their capital at Tiahuanacu
(14).

Except for a few small groups that were able to escape, some across the Pacific, others
in the mountains and jungle, the men had their throats slit by the victors. But the women
were spared. Some, presumably, were treated by the Indians as spoils of war. Others
may have managed to escape and tried to reach the Amazon where, as we shall see, the
Vikings had settlements: Early medieval Norse women in Europe liked to accompany
their male clansmen in war and often took part in their battles. The Scandinavian sagas
are full of the heroic exploits of the skjold~meyar, or Shield Virgins, who have often
been compared to Amazons (15). The conquest and domination, in South America, of an
immense empire stretching from the Maule River in Chile to the Cundinamarca plateau
(Kondanemarka: the Royal Danish Mark, in Norrish) where present-day Bogota is
situated, not to speak of

the roads that, via the Paraguay and the Guayra, led from Tiahuanacu to the Atlantic
(16), must certainly not have dulled the warrior virtues of the Viking women of
Tiahuanacu.

The Skjold-Meyar women of the Altiplano therefore took refuge in the jungle east of
the Andes, probably in contact with some groups of men who had taken the same path,
but who, less numerous than them, probably kept out of their way so as not to be
subjected to them. By the force of things, these women adopted

the way of life and customs that made them, little by little, what they were in 1542.
Arriving on the banks of the Amazon, they learned that the Viking garrisons in the
region, deprived of their base, had dispersed and that their soldiers had, like them, out
of necessity, adopted the customs of the Indians, the only means of survival.

They probably could have gone to live with them. But they had become accustomed to
independence and, perhaps, to leshian practices. The fact is that they preferred, not
without establishing with the neighbouring whites the relations - warlike or friendly -
that we already know, to conquer a small kingdom in the region, imposing their
authority on the indigenous tribes. This, at least, is what they did.
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the Amazons of the Upper Nhamunda. The others, if there

were any, disappeared without leaving any history.

The Empire of the Great Paytiti

1. The mirage of gold

The Spaniards who, without much difficulty, since the Inca empire was in full decay
and their people took them for gods, entered Peru in 1532, certainly had no fins lettrés.
They were brave adventurers who dreamed of nothing but plunder and fanatical friars
who thought only of extirpating “idolatry".

tria". Some melted down the incomparable pieces of Inca goldsmith's work to make
ingots, while the others were ferocious with the temples and, in the absence of
manuscripts to burn, as in Mexico, they carefully destroyed the quipu, which the
Amanta used as anemotechnical elements, and the ancient inscriptions,
incomprehensible even to the Incas and Indians, which were still found in the
mountains.

Pizarro, the illiterate former swineherd, covered with his
authority the destruction of what had been, for a few

centuries, an ephemeral but great civilisation.

No sooner had they reached Cuzco than the Conquistadors had heard of mysterious
regions on the fringes of the empire. The Indians knew of them only by tradition, but
they were pleased to attribute incomparable riches to them, perhaps in the hope of
ridding themselves of at least some of their oppressors. They told how, somewhere in
the Northeast, the indigenous curaca (chief) of Guatavita was so rich that every year, on
the occasion of the feast of the Sun, he bathed,

covered with gold, in the waters of a neighbouring lake. They also alluded to the
kingdom of Ambaya and the capital, Manoa, of the Great Paytiti, emperor of the
Musus, a city with palaces of gold, located on an island in Lake Parimé. In support of
their claims, the Indians evoked a historical fact: the expedition that the Inca ruler
Yupanki, at the end of

of the fifteenth century or in the early years of the sixteenth century, he undertook in
vain, with the intention of subduing the musus, going down by him Marafien, as we
have shown in a work
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(16), with a fleet of rafts mounted by ten thousand men. Such accounts were apparently
confirmed, in 1539, when a Tupinamba tribe arrived in Peru, having just crossed the
Amazon region at its widest point, in

The Spaniards, who had not yet discovered Lake Titicaca and who, moreover, did not
understand the Tupi-Guarani language of the pilgrims, believed that the city in question
was in the jungles of the Tupi-Guarani jungle. The Spaniards, who had not yet
discovered Lake Titicaca and who, moreover, misunderstood the Tupi-Guarani
language of the pilgrims, believed that the city in question was in the eastern jungles
where the Indians came from.

At the same time, Domingo de Irala and Francisco de Rivera, during their expeditions
in the north of Paraguay and in the province of Santa Cruz, collected all kinds of
rumours from the Indians about the Xarayes lagoon and its island of Paradise,
populated by orejones. Domingo de Irala, writes Ruiz Diaz de Guzman(3), "He heard
from these Indians how, between the Brazil and the Marafion and the headwaters

of the Rio de la Plata, there was a province of many people who had their populations
on the shore of a great lagoon, and who possessed a great quantity of gold which they
used; for which reason the Spaniards named the said lagoon EI Dorado. The natives of
which, they say, bordered with some villages of only women...". It is the empire of
Gran Moxo, or Gran Paytiti. To add to the confusion, Del Barco Centefiera (p) who, in
his famous poem, describes the island of Paytiti, with its golden palace, adds that,
according to some, the Paraguay River, or Rio de la Plata, has its source in the lake of
Parimé, in the province of El Dorado....

The Argentine historian Enrique de Gandia (18) has shown very clearly that part of the
rumours collected by the Spaniards referred, on the one hand, to Lake Titicaca and its
Isla del Sol and, on the other, to Lake Guatavita. The Gran Moxo empire, which takes
its name from the Moxos plain (Mojos, according to the current Spanish spelling),
located in the province of Santa Cruz, at the foot of the Andean Altiplano, merely
reflects the recent memory of that of the

Incas, while the myth of EI Dorado has its origins in the

solar ceremony held by a curaca in present-day Colombia. Whatever Gandia thinks, the
problem is not so easy to solve as far as the empire of the Great Paytiti is concerned.

With this name, Del Barco Centenera (17) undoubtedly describes Titicaca. But this is
nothing more than a poet's fantasy. The Jesuits of Santa Cruz, who lived in close
contact with the Guarani Indians of their missions, located in the north of their
province the territory of the mysterious sovereign: "The Lord was good enough to give
us good

Andrés Ortiz wrote to his provincial, Fr. Juan Sebastian, on 14 September 1595, "and
we always come along the banks of the river Guapay... which runs north-south - the
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good father expresses himself badly, because the Guapay, a tributary of the Mamoré,
and he could not ignore it, belongs to the Amazon basin and heads northwards, because
he knows that the banks of the river have a population that has to give news of the
Moxos, or Paytiti, or Candiré, as they call it here". In 1572, on the other hand, the
viceroy of Peru, Francisco de Toledo, mentioned in a letter "the province of the
women, up to the great news of Paytité".

Everything seems to indicate that the mysterious empire was located in the Amazon. In
Upper Paraguay and Santa Cruz, the Indians located it in a place corresponding to the
territory where the white warriors had originally settled, between the Purds and the
Jurua. However, in the

Peru, it was sought even further north.

It was in 1535, the same year as the conquest of Cuzco, that Pizarro sent Pedro de
Candia to the sources of the Amazon, in search of the lands of the Great Paytiti,
emperor of the Musus. In 1539, Pedro de Anzures tried in vain to penetrate the same
region. In 1540, Gonzalo Pizarro had himself appointed by his brother, the Conqueror,
corregidor of Quito, in present-day Ecuador: his purpose was to set out eastwards, in
search of El Dorado and the Land of Cinnamon. He recruited two hundred Spaniards,
"the most noble and principal people of the kingdom", and two thousand Indian
prisoners of war. He had two hundred horses and

of llamas used, in the manner of the Indians, as pack animals. This "city on the march",
according to an expression of the time, left Quito in February 1541 and progressed
slowly up to a certain point on the Coca River. It was impossible to advance any
further, for lack of supplies. Gonzalo Pizarro then commissioned his lieutenant,
Orellana, to go down the river and wait for him for two or three months at an agreed
point.

After twenty-six days, the time needed for the construction of a second brigantine, the
officer

-The fact that he was a lucid or rebellious man is still debated today, but he was recognised
as a captain by his men and decided to continue the experience on his own.

dition. You know what happened.

Orellana was not the last of those who took, from Peru, the road to the Amazon in the
hope of discovering the Paytiti. Suffice it to mention Pedro de irzda, who embarked in
1560 with a good troop on the Llamas River in search of Lake Parimé. In the course of
the voyage, his lieutenant, Lope de Aguirre, murdered him in circumstances that
remain unknown to us, descended the Amazon to the ocean and, by sea, reached
Venezuela, where his men handed him over to the authorities who had him executed.
However, at the same time, Manoa had already been sought for some time to be
reached by

the north.

The first expedition was that of Pedro Fernandez de Lugo, governor of New Granada
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(Colombia), who, in 1536, attempted in vain to cross the Magdalena River and had
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to retreat. His lieutenant, Gonzalo Jiménez de Quesada, who accompanied him by land,
continued to advance. With forty of his eight hundred men, he reached the

plateau of Kondanemarka (Cundinamarca, according to the Spanish transcription),
where he founded the city of Bogota. In 1539, Nikolaus Federmann, a man of the
Welser family to whom Charles V had given the fief of VVenezuela as collateral for
loans he had obtained from them, discovered Lake Guatavita. He knew its story, told
nine years earlier by Diego de Ordaz, who had heard it told in the Orinoco region. In
the same year, Quesada, with five hundred men of whom only twenty-five returned,
also reached the lake of the Golden Man. In 1541, Philipp von Huten set out from
Coro, on the coast of Venezuela, with a hundred horsemen, including the young
Bartholomaos Welser, to reach the Amazon, but was repulsed on the banks of the
Japura River by a veritable army of 15,000 Indians. Finally, in 1584,

Antonio de Berrio, who had heard

speaking of EI Dorado and Manoa, on the great lake of Parima, he left Bogota and set
sail down the Orinoco, which descended to the sea. He sent his field master, Domingo
de Vera, to Spain, where he assembled a fleet and recruited two thousand men. From
Trinidad, they set off in all directions, but within months almost all were dead. In 1595,

Berrio was captured by Sir Walter Raleigh. Raleigh, convinced as he was that the Incas
were English, was excited to hear of El Dorado. The honourable pirate entered the
Orinoco, but the threat of an approaching Spanish fleet forced him to turn back.

In 1674 still - myths are resilient - two French Jesuits, Fathers Grillet and Béchamel, set
out, unsuccessfully, through Guyana, "in search of the great Lake Parima and of
numerous cities said to be situated on its shores, and reputed to be the richest in the
world (19)".

What can we deduce from all this? Firstly, that there existed, at an indeterminate time
before the Conquest, a territory, adjacent to the Land of the Amazons, which the
Indians located in the jungle to the north-east of Peru. The accounts concerning it must
even have been more precise than the texts of the Spanish chroniclers, since the
cartographer Théodore de Bry, in 1599, locates Lake Parima in Guiana and places the
golden city of Manoa on its northern shore: in the great Guiana of the time, where
Barros Prado found the Amazons and their lake of Jacicura.

It should also be noted that if the Incas knew of the existence of the empire of the
Musus in the Amazon, it was from the West that information about the Great Paytiti
reached the Spaniards of Peru, and from the North to those of Paraguay, i.e. from lands
populated by the Guarani and Tupiguarani - two branches of the same race. The very
name of this legendary ruler is clearly of Guarani origin, at least in the immediate
sense. From Paraguay to Guyana, pay, in fact, means father, in
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the religious sense of the term, priest. Titi, we wrote in a previous work (16), "seems to
be a variant of Ticci or Ticsi, a closer form of Ti, root of Tiwaz, name of the Father of
Heaven, in old Germanic, than that found in Kon Ticsi Huirakocha, the White God of
the Inca religion.